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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,
Plaintiff,
V.
NEW HOPE PROPERTY LLC, also dba
New Hope Modifications LLC, BRIAN
MAMMOCCIO, and DONNA FISHER,

Defendants.

D S N e N N N N N N

Civil No.

COMPLAINT FOR
PERMANENT
INJUNCTION AND OTHER
EQUITABLE RELIEF


mailto:gashe@ftc.gov
mailto:lhodapp@ftc.gov
mailto:srosenthal@ftc.gov

Case 1:09-cv-01203-JBS-JS Document1  Filed 03/17/2009 Page 2 of 15

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”), for its complaint alleges:
The FTC brings this action under Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), to obtain temporary,
preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief, rescission or reformation of
contracts, restitution, disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, and other equitable
relief for Defendants’ acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the
FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,
1337(a), and 1345, and 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a) and 53(b).

Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (¢), and 15
U.S.C. § 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

Plaintiff FTC is an independent agency of the United States Government
created by statute. 15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq. The FTC is charged, inter alia,
with enforcement of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which
prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. The
FTC is authorized to initiate federal district court proceedings, by its own

attorneys, to enjoin violations of the FTC Act and to secure such equitable
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relief as may be appropriate in each case, including restitution and
disgorgement. 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).

DEFENDANTS

Defendant New Hope Property LLC, also doing business as New Hope
Modifications LLC and New Hope Modifications, (“NHM”) is a New Jersey
limited liability company with its principal place of business at 14000
Horizon Way, Mt. Laurel, New Jersey. NHM transacts or has transacted
business in the District of New Jersey. At all times material to this
Complaint, NHM, acting alone or in concert with others, has advertised,
marketed, and/or sold mortgage loan modification services to consumers
throughout the United States.

Defendant Brian Mammoccio is a manager, officer and/or director of NHM.
At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with
others, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control,
or participated in the acts and practices of NHM, including the acts and
practices set forth in this Complaint. Defendant Mammoccio resides in this
District and transacts or has transacted business in this District and
throughout the United States.

Defendant Donna Fisher is a manager, officer and/or director of NHM. At

all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with others,
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she has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to control, or
participated in the acts and practices of NHM, including the acts and
practices set forth in this Complaint. Defendant Fisher resides in this
District and transacts or has transacted business in this District and
throughout the United States.

COMMERCE

At all times relevant to this complaint, Defendants have maintained a
substantial course of trade in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is
defined in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.

BACKGROUND ON THE HOPE NOW ALLIANCE

The Hope Now Alliance is a private-sector, non-profit alliance formed in
October 2007 with the encouragement of then President Bush and the
Departments of Treasury and Housing and Urban Development. The Hope
Now Alliance is a broad-based collaboration between credit and
homeownership counselors, lenders, investors, mortgage market
participants, and trade associations. The Hope Now Alliance offers free
assistance to homeowners who may not be able to pay their mortgages and
need help working with their mortgage company or loan servicer. The Hope

Now Alliance maintains an Internet website, www.hopenow.com, and a toll-

free hotline, 888-995-HOPE. Consumers who contact the Hope Now
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Alliance are referred to HUD-approved housing counselors who provide
counseling at no cost to consumers.

DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES

Since at least August 28, 2007, Defendants have engaged in a course of
conduct to advertise, market, offer to sell, and sell to consumers mortgage
loan modification and foreclosure relief services. Defendants, using the
name New Hope Modifications, market their services to homeowners who
are in danger of losing their homes to foreclosure. Defendants maintain at

least four Internet websites, www.newhopemodifications.com,

www.newhopemodificationsllc.com, www.newhopemitigation.com, and

www.newhopemod.com, through which they market their services.

Defendants’ websites are nearly identical. At the top left of Defendants’
websites is their logo: a graphic of a house next to the words “New Hope”
and underneath the phrase “For You. For Now. For the Future.” To the
right is Defendants’ toll-free number, “877-373-HOPE.”

Defendants’ websites contain statements to induce consumers to purchase

their mortgage loan modification and foreclosure relief services, including:

a. Stop Foreclosure Now
Our Experienced Professionals Are Here To Help You

b. At New Hope Modifications LLC we have the experience and
expertise necessary to negotiate successfully with your lender. We
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have more than ten years experience in the mortgage industry and
already have working relationships with most mortgage companies.

C. Are you facing Foreclosure or have you had a change in your financial
situation and you can no longer afford your mortgage? If you are
falling behind on your payments or think you may fall behind in the
near future, don’t wait. Time is not your friend in this situation, but
there is hope. It all starts here. We can help save your home and save
you the embarrassment of bankruptcy and sheriff’s sale or notice of
eviction.

d. We know how to help you. Put our expertise into action and you could
become another one of our countless satisfied customers.

e. The Fast And Easy Way To save your home is “Loss Mitigation”
which is rescuing many homeowners from foreclosure. Loss
Mitigation is a process whereby a homeowner’s mortgage is modified
and both lender & homeowner are bound by the new terms.

f. Our experience and familiarity with each lender are the keys to your
success and a beneficial resolution. We have skilled negotiators
working for you.

g. The key to our high success rate is constructing a financial plan that
you and your lender can approve and, most importantly, that you are
able to perform.

h. Unfortunately homeowners that try to work directly with their lender
have a failure rate of over 80%.

1. Our experience within the loss mitigation departments of major
mortgage companies and servicers gives you the advantage needed to
secure a plan you can live with.

B I’ve already talked with my lender and they just want all their
money. Can you still help me?
Yes. Most of our clients have experienced this kind of inflexibility
from their lenders before calling us. We get your bank to listen to
your needs because they know and trust us. We have mitigated
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thousands of home foreclosure cases. That kind of experience gives
us credibility with your lender. Over the years we have developed
positive working relationships with key people at most banks. Our
integrity and professionalism have earned us a reputation that allows
us to be heard when no one else can get through the red tape.

k. Several companies contacted me recently offering help. What
makes you different?
... We have some of the most experienced and well respected
specialists in the industry whose sole purpose is to save your house,
not buy it, sell it, or send you into bankruptcy. . . .
Defendants’ websites also contain numerous purported customer
testimonials touting Defendants’ ability to arrange loan modifications and/or
stop foreclosures. In introducing the testimonials, Defendants state: “Our
experienced professionals have been helping people like you for years . . .
Below are a few testimonials from a few of our many satisfied clients.” The
testimonials include the following statements:
a. ... New Hope worked it all out with my bank, and got them to agree
to a modification so that I could be back on track, stop foreclosure,

and keep my house. THANK YOU!!

b. ... I commend the caring specialists at New Hope who took care of
everything and worked out a payment I could afford.

C. Thank you for helping us and guiding us to save our home. . .

d. I just wanted to take the time to thank you staff for helping to save my
house. . .

e. We just wanted to send you a line to say thanks for your help in
saving our home. . . Again, we appreciate the hard work that you put
into this to help save our home. We are forever grateful.
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f. I want to take a moment to thank you for all of your assistance in
arranging a work out program with my mortgage company. . .

Defendants’ websites include a toll-free number, 877-373-HOPE and
encourage consumers to call to “Get a FREE Consultation.” Alternatively,
Defendants’ websites request consumers to complete a short form and
submit the information to Defendants after which a representative calls the
consumer. The short form asks consumers for their contact information,
lender name, monthly mortgage payment, the number of months behind, and
whether there is a foreclosure date.

Consumers speak with Defendants’ telemarketers when they call the toll-free
number in response to Defendants’ Internet advertising or when Defendants
call consumers after receiving consumers’ information via the online form.
During the telemarketing sales calls, Defendants’ representatives collect
information from consumers, including details about the consumers’
mortgages and income. After consumers provide Defendants with this
information, the telemarketers often claim that the consumers are prime
candidates for a modification. Defendants’ representatives typically promise
consumers that Defendants can help modify consumers’ mortgage loans and

prevent foreclosure.
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Defendants’ telemarketers instruct consumers that they must pay
Defendants’ fee up-front. The fee is typically in the amount of consumers’
monthly mortgage payment. Defendants typically refer to the fee as a
mitigation escrow fee. Consumers who express concern about paying the
fee are often told that they can pay the fee instead of their regular mortgage
payment, because foreclosure proceedings will be stayed while Defendants
negotiate with the lender.

In numerous instances, consumers are told that if they are not satisfied with
Defendants’ service they are entitled to a full refund of the fees paid.

In numerous instances, Defendants’ representatives create a false aura of
legitimacy by misrepresenting that Defendants are part of the Hope Now
Alliance.

Defendants, however, are not members of, affiliated with, or part of the
Hope Now Alliance.

In numerous instances after consumers have paid Defendants’ fee,
Defendants fail to return consumers’ telephone calls or provide updates
about the status of Defendants’ purported communications with the
consumers’ lenders. In other instances, Defendants misrepresent to

consumers that negotiations are proceeding smoothly.
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In numerous instances, Defendants fail to obtain mortgage loan
modifications. In numerous instances, consumers learn from their lenders
that Defendants have not even contacted the lender or that Defendants have
made only minimal, non-substantive contacts with the lender. Some
consumers are able to obtain mortgage loan modifications and avoid
foreclosure only through their own efforts and not because of any service
provided by Defendants. Consumers who obtain modifications and stop
foreclosure through their own efforts sometimes learn that their lenders offer
the same settlement terms to consumers who negotiate on their own behalf
that they offer through third parties such as Defendants; other consumers
learn that their lenders will negotiate only with consumers and not with third
parties.

Because of their reliance on Defendants’ promises, numerous consumers lost
not only the substantial fees paid to Defendants, but also opportunities for
lower payments as a result of concessions offered directly by the lender.
Moreover, in numerous instances, Defendants increase the likelithood of
foreclosure by encouraging consumers to pay Defendants’ fee rather than
make mortgage payments, and encouraging consumers not to accept work

out options presented by the consumers’ lenders.

10
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In numerous instances, when Defendants fail to obtain a mortgage loan
modification as promised, Defendants deny refund requests from consumers.

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION S OF THE FTC ACT

Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or
deceptive acts and practices in or affecting commerce.”
Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material fact constitute
deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

Count I
In numerous instances, Defendants have represented to consumers, expressly
or by implication, that Defendants will obtain a mortgage loan modification
or stop foreclosure in all or virtually all instances.
In truth and in fact, Defendants do not obtain a mortgage loan modification
or stop foreclosure in all or virtually all instances.
Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 27 is false
and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of
Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S. C. § 45(a).

Count IT
In numerous instances, Defendants have represented to consumers, expressly
or by implication, that Defendants will give refunds to consumers if

Defendants fail to obtain a mortgage loan modification or stop foreclosure.

11
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In truth and in fact, in numerous of these instances, Defendants do not give
refunds to consumers when Defendants fail to obtain a mortgage loan
modification or stop foreclosure.
Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 30 is false
and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of
Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S. C. § 45(a).

Count ITI
In numerous instances, Defendants have represented to consumers, expressly
or by implication, that Defendants are members of, part of, or affiliated with
the Hope Now Alliance.
In truth and fact, Defendants are not members of, part of, or affiliated with
the Hope Now Alliance.
Therefore, Defendants’ representation as set forth in Paragraph 33 is false
and misleading and constitutes a deceptive act or practice in violation of
Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

CONSUMER INJURY

Consumers have suffered and will continue to suffer substantial injury as a
result of Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act. In addition, Defendants

have been unjustly enriched as a result of their unlawful acts or practices.

12
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Absent injunctive relief by this Court, Defendants are likely to continue to
injure consumers, reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest.

THIS COURT’S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF

Section 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), empowers this Court to
grant injunctive and such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate to
halt and redress violations of the FTC Act. The Court, in the exercise of its
equitable jurisdiction, may award ancillary relief, including rescission of
contracts and restitution, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies, to
prevent and remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the
FTC.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Wherefore, Plaintiff Federal Trade Commission, pursuant to Section 13(b)

of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and the Court’s own equitable powers, requests

that the Court:

A. Award Plaintiff such preliminary injunctive and ancillary relief as

may be necessary to avert the likelihood of consumer injury during the pendency

of this action, and to preserve the possibility of effective final relief, including but

not limited to temporary and preliminary injunctions, an order freezing assets,

immediate access, and the appointment of a receiver;

13
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B. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC
Act by Defendants;

C. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to
consumers resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act, including but not
limited to rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the refund of monies
paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; and
/!

/!
/!
/!
/!
/!
/!
/!
/!
/!
/!
/!
/!

/!

14
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D. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other
and additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.
Dated: March 17, 2009 Respectfully submitted,
DAVID C. SHONKA

Acting General Counsel

s/ Gregory A. Ashe

GREGORY A. ASHE

LAWRENCE HODAPP
STEPHANIE ROSENTHAL

Federal Trade Commission

600 Pennsylvania Avenue
Washington, DC 20580

Telephone: 202-326-3719 (Ashe)
Telephone: 202-326-3105 (Hodapp)
Telephone: 202-326-3332 (Rosenthal)
Facsimile: 202-326-3768

Email: gashe@ftc.gov, lhodapp@ ftc.gov,
srosenthal@ftc.gov

RALPH J. MARRA, JR.
Acting United States Attorney
WILLIAM E. FITZPATRICK
Deputy United States Attorney
401 Market Street, 4th Floor
Camden, NJ 08101

Telephone: 856-757-5026

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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